This 1931 Kantishna photograph
shows Joe Quigley (left), Betty
Edmunds, wife of ARC Foreman Chris
Edmunds, Fannie Quigley, and Harry
Liek. DENA 38-31, Denali National
Park and Preserve Museum Collection

Chapter Four: The Cabins-and-Snowshoes

Moving Up to a New Headquarters

During the waning days of the 1924 tourist sea-
son, Superintendent Harry Karstens was under-
standably frustrated with several major elements
related to park operations. He had been unable
to resolve the long-festering problem of where to
locate the park’s headquarters, the park conces-
sioner often complained about existing condi-
tions and demanded unrealistic actions from
Park Service staff, and railroad officials damp-
ened prospects for tourism by serving McKinley
Park Station in the dead of night. Karstens had
no way of knowing it, but within a year each of
these problems would be overcome and, as shall
be seen, prospects for both visitors and for park
resources would considerably improve.

One major problem dealt with land ownership
and the logistics of park administration. As not-
ed in the previous chapter, Karstens had arrived
in the area in the early summer of 1921. Soon
afterward he wrote, “I firmly believe Riley Creek
to be the most logical entrance to the park,” inas-
much as the area was “beautifully situated for an
entrance.”! He then went to Fairbanks to claim
land for a headquarters just west of the railroad
right-of-way and just north of the bridge site,
but General Land Office (GLO) personnel told
him that roadhouse proprietor Maurice Morino
had already staked out virtually all of the land in
that area between the railroad right-of-way and
the adjacent bluffs.? He therefore established
his headquarters south of Morino’s claim, in the
bottomland near the confluence of Riley and
Morris [Hines] creeks.

Despite that rebuft, however, he told Washing-
ton officials—in the fall of 1921 and again a year
later—that the park’s headquarters should be
“on the high bench” north of the bridge. “I have
always had in mind,” he wrote, “the erection of
permanent buildings ... immediately west of the
railroad station, from this point the road into the
park will begin. The idea is to build ... alarge
rustic gateway for [an] entrance. ... Within the
gate there will be a main thoroughfare, on either
side of which will be park buildings located with
an eye to efficiency and beauty.” Karstens hoped
“to induce Mr. Moreno [sic] to relinquish such
portions of his claim as this park needs,” and

at a January 1923 community meeting, he was
successful in getting him to do just that. Morino,
however, soon reneged on that offer.?

Later that year, the picture became even more
complicated when the Alaska Railroad inter-

vened. Col. Lee Landis, the general manager

of the newly-completed line, asked Karstens to
relinquish a large parcel just north of the Morino
tract that “would be used in connection with

the railroad hotel to be constructed at McKin-
ley Park.” (Karstens had effective control over
the parcel at that time because a January 1922
presidential proclamation, noted in Chapter 3,
withdrew the land for park administration and
for a proposed road.) Landis also lobbied other
Interior Department officials, and in early 1924
he succeeded; on January 21, President Calvin
Coolidge issued an executive order that was
“reserved for use in connection with the con-
struction and operation of railroad lines” (see
Map 4). The hotel, as it turned out, was not built
for more than a decade, but the railroad now had
jurisdiction over a 240-acre tract that represented
approximately the northern half of the McKinley
Park Station area.*

Recognizing that he had few other options,
Karstens began to look at areas along the park
road away from McKinley Park Station. In mid-
February 1924, less than month after Coolidge
issued the executive order, he had told Washing-
ton officials that “I believe it is time to take up

the question of moving our headquarters from
its present location to ... a beautiful spot ... one
and two-thirds miles from the railroad.” A month
later, Acting Director Arno Cammerer authorized
Karstens to move the park headquarters to that
spot.” The site, just west of “First Creek” [Rock
Creek], was “beautifully located and will give full
control of those going into or out of the park.”
Soon afterward, he dispatched a ranger and
horse team to the site “to clear a portion of it for
lumber yard and buildings.”® The eastern park
boundary, then at the 149t parallel, was less than
two miles west of the newly-selected site.

Karstens, however, recognized that “as a mat-

ter of expediency and economy in many ways
park headquarters should be near the railroad,”
and in April 1924, he told Washington that he
was delaying action on the move because of

a “sudden change of heart in Mr. Morino.”
Shortly afterward, he and a ranger “accompanied
Morino over his homestead to look over land he
is willing to relinquish for Park use.” But Morino
later recanted his interest in that proposition.
Karstens, in response, tried to get the GLO’s
George Parks to work with railroad officials to

be able to use part of their newly-acquired land
near the depot.” The matter of a park headquar-
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ters location was not resolved until September
7, at an Anchorage meeting attended by Parks,
Karstens, and the Alaska Railroad’s Noel Smith.
At that meeting, Karstens was disappointed

to hear that “Mr. Parks would not agree that I
should get land at the railroad at McKinley Park
for a headquarters,” primarily because “the
Alaska Railroad wish[es] to hold this land for a
hotel site, a railroad wye which runs up to it, and
for other purposes.”®

By good fortune, a major fire that had swept
through the area in July 1924 had missed the
bench just west of Rock Creek,’ so by October
of that year, rangers were hard at work “clear-
ing land out at the new headquarters” and they
began hauling cabin logs to the site. Karstens
hoped “to begin construction very early in the
spring” so that the buildings would be ready
before summer. In February 1925, Washington
gave him permission to locate there; pending a
supplemental appropriation for building con-
struction, however, Karstens was cautioned to
erect only “temporary structures which have to
be dismantled, and without loss to the United
States except for the labor put in.”!? Karstens
followed orders to the letter, according to Grant
Pearson: “There were no funds for the moving
project. He salvaged three one-room cabins at
the old Headquarters, tore them down, and re-
built them at the new site. All the work was done
by himself, the Chief Ranger, the Park Clerk, and
two other Rangers.” Construction then com-
menced at the new site. By August 1925, the only
building completed was the park office. (The
sign “Superintendent’s Office” was emblazoned
above this cabin’s front porch.) The Superin-
tendent’s living quarters was erected a month
later, and the clerk’s cabin began soon afterward.
(Although the components that went into these

The two cabins were built from
materials salvaged from the first
headquarters and were used as
ranger quarters. The weather station
(right) was moved up from the first
headquarters in 1925 and continues
to record daily weather observations
near this location. The Superinten-
dent’s Office is on the left. Candy
Waugaman Collection
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structures were often recycled materials that had
been hauled up from the former headquarters
site, the buildings were by no means “tempo-
rary,” although the minimal level of funds that
were invested in them may have suggested other-
wise.) By the time winter arrived, the camp was
by no means complete, and some staff endured
the winter of 1925-26 in less-than-adequate ac-
commodations.!!

Locating and building a viable headquarters area
was a major accomplishment that had long-term
consequences for park development. The staking
of this area, which was outside of park boundar-
ies but was deeded “for use in connection with
the administration of the Mount McKinley
National Park” (as noted in the language of the
1922 executive order), meant that park personnel
would know about, and would be able to control,
the comings and goings of traffic along the park
road. It also meant that park personnel—for
better or worse—would be divorced from the
goings-on at McKinley Park Station; they also
would be two miles from the railroad tracks and,
given the sheltered location 350 feet higher in
elevation, they would experience warmer winter
temperatures and less windy conditions than
those prevailing in the area surrounding the rail-
road depot. As future events would prove, living
at the new headquarters site would prove to be a
double-edged sword, with strong drawbacks as
well as notable advantages.

Another major change that took place during the
winter of 1924-25 was the transformation of the
park’s concessioner. As noted in the previous
chapter, a horse-packer named Dan Kennedy
had been the only viable way for most visitors

to see the park during the summers of 1923 and
1924. His orneriness, however, proved grating to



The Alaska Road Commission built

a two-part cabin as the center of

its Savage River road construction
camp. This was the only cabin built
by the Alaska Road Commission that
connected two 14'X16’ cabins facing

each other, with an 8 foot “dog-trot”

between them with a common roof.
Herbert Heller Collection, 79-44-
1341, University of Alaska Fairbanks

both park visitors and NPS of-

ficials. (See Appendix D.) But

in June 1925, things changed

for the better when Dan Ken-

nedy sold his interest in the

company, supposedly because

he “positively refuse[d] to do

business in the park as long

as [Karstens was] the super-

intendent.” James L. Galen,

who purchased Kennedy’s

stake, also headed the Richard-

son Highway Transportation

Company, which was a major

passenger carrier along the 370-

mile route connecting Valdez

with Fairbanks. Beginning in

1925, the team of President Galen and Vice-Pres-
ident Thomas Marquam was well on the way into
transforming the Mount McKinley Tourist and
Transportation Company into an economically-
viable operation that would host thousands of
satisfied visitors during its 17-year tenure as the
park concessioner.!?

The Galen-Marquam partnership resulted in
what was widely considered to be a progressive
concessioner —and one that generally worked
well with NPS staff. That partnership, in a

larger sense, ushered in a period in which four
partners—the concessioner, the National Park
Service, the Alaska Railroad, and the Alaska Road
Commission—were jointly responsible for park
tourism development. Few of these organiza-
tions had many staff, and the budgets allotted

to McKinley-area projects were often meager
indeed. (See Appendix B.) These entities,
however, were able to successfully work together
on many matters during the period between the
mid-1920s and the eve of World War II. These
partnerships were fostered because the area was
geographically isolated, because of informal re-
lationships among the leaders involved, because
of a “can-do” spirit, and because the parties
involved shared many of the same overall goals.

One of the major roadblocks that was cleared
away during the 1924-25 period was a financing
arrangement for the construction of the park
road. As noted earlier, the ARC and the NPS had
established an “informal agreement” in 1922 on
road construction, and in April 1924 Congress
had authorized a three-year NPS road-construc-
tion program. But the NPS could not spend
money on the road until it received a specific
appropriation. The lack of such an appropriation
meant that construction undertaken in 1924—
some $80,000 in total—was paid for by the ARC,
with the expectation that the NPS would eventu-
ally provide reimbursement. That expectation

was finally fulfilled when Congress passed the
Act of March 3, 1925 (H.R. 10020). That act
provided funds sufficient for 33 miles of road and
additional trail mileage. These funds, expended
on an annual basis, funded road construction
through the 1927 season. Congress then passed
the Act of March 7, 1928 (H.R. 9136), which
provided sufficient funds to complete the road an
additional 33 miles, to Copper Mountain.!

As aresult of the two congressional acts, Alaska
Road Commission crews—using primarily if

not exclusively NPS funds—constructed many
miles of the park road during the mid- to late
1920s. (See Appendix F.) By the close of the 1924
season, as has been noted, crews had graded the
park road just ten miles west of McKinley Park
Station, “with very little gravel on it as yet.”'* Asa
result, most visitors traveled via horseback to the
newly-constructed Savage Camp. But during the
1925 season, the road crews were able to extend
the road all the way to the Sanctuary River (mile
22). Alack of funding prevented further con-
struction the following year, but in 1927 the road
was extended to Igloo Creek (mile 34);in 1928,
road crews pushed west another 4% miles to the
crest of Sable Pass; and by the close of the 1929
season, vehicles could drive all the way to the
brink of the Toklat River’s East Fork (mile 43'%).15

In order to construct the road, ARC crews
erected a series of camps that served as tempo-
rary bases of operation. The initial tents along
the route were the line of small tents that crews,
in 1922, had erected at 12-15 mile intervals
between McKinley Park Station and Wonder
Lake.'® Beginningin 1924, ARC road construc-
tion crews began erecting small tent camps every
few miles (and not necessarily at sites where they
had previously erected tents). Perhaps twenty

of these ephemeral construction camps were
thrown up altogether, and little obvious evidence
marks those sites today.!” But at five sites along
the way (at Savage River, Sanctuary River, Igloo
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The Toklat Patrol Cabin was built

by rangers Grant Pearson and Lee
Swisher a few years before the park
road reached this location. It was a
valuable ‘relief’ cabin for rangers on

winter patrols. Dan Wilder Collection,

Courtesy of the Wilder Family

The Sanctuary ARC camp had a
1-room cabin on the north side of the
park road and the wall-tent living
quarters arranged around a circle
drive on the south side. This original

ARC footprint has become the present

Sanctuary Campground. The Sanctu-

ary cabin has not moved, but the road

and new bridge were moved north
of the cabin. Herbert Heller Collec-
tion, 79-44-1385, University of Alaska

Creek, East Fork, and Toklat River), ARC crews
constructed log structures between 1924 and
1931. These cabins, which typically anchored an
ARC tent camp, served two practical purposes;
they served as sturdy, bear-proof cook houses for
ARC crews during the summer and as shelters for
ranger patrols during the winter. As construc-
tion progressed, these cabins gradually replaced
the tents that the ARC had erected back in 1922
when the new route to Kantishna had first been
laid out.'®

NPS rangers, who had begun to patrol the park
well before the ARC began road construction,
had at first been forced to bunk in abandoned
cabins along the way. Given the Commission’s
cabin building, rangers were only too glad to use
these substantial new structures once the brief
construction flurry had passed at a given camp.
But as shall be seen below, the NPS had created
its own network of ranger cabins in the central
park corridor, some of which were along the gen-
eral road right-of-way. Cabins along the future
road right-of-way included an Igloo Camp cabin,
originally made by “California mountain men,”
which Fritz Nyberg and Grant Pearson improved
in the summer of 1926, and the Toklat Patrol
Cabin, which Pearson and Lee Swisher built in
the summer of 1927.%

The various log cabins along the road corridor
were similar but by no means identical. The first
ARC cabin, built just east of Savage River in 1924,
was a so-called “double log cabin” that consisted
of two adjacent cabins bridged by a sheltered
“dogtrot” walkway. Cabins built during the next
three years, whether by the NPS or ARC, typi-
cally consisted of a single room, sometimes with
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a substantial entrance porch. Rangers at each of
these cabins added additional nearby improve-
ments such dog houses, an outhouse, and a
storage cache.?

The ARC’s construction of the park to the Savage
River considerably eased access for the Mount
McKinley park visitor because it allowed the
concessioner to provide comfortable, if rustic,
amenities. In 1925, Savage Camp was finally
accessible by road, and that same year Alaska
Railroad officials jiggered their schedules to al-
low daytime stops at McKinley Park Station in
both directions.?! As a result, traffic into the park
increased from 62 (in 1924) to 206 (in 1925). In
order to accommodate the new influx, the Mount
McKinley Tourist and Transportation Company
(see Appendix D) had four touring cars at its dis-
posal; even so, late-summer tourists were so nu-
merous that “the four cars had difficulty handling
all who wished to go into the park.”?? That fall,
concessions officials announced plans to make

a substantial investment (between $25,000 and
$30,000) in facilities and transport conveyances.



In 1926, the Alaska Railroad erected
this rustic arch over the park road just
beyond the McKinley Park depot. It
was intended to give the visitor a
sense of arrival at the park, although
the park boundary was several miles
to the west. Lingo Collection, Denali
National Park and Preserve Museum
Collection

They couched such an investment in hopes that
the NPS would grant them a long-term contract;
the agency, however, made it clear that because
two years remained on the contract, it had little
interest in amending it.>> The company also
decided that its main camp would remain at Sav-
age Camp, regardless of how far road construc-
tion progressed; it did so because of the camp’s
nearness to the railroad, the spectacular Mount
McKinley view, and the plethora of nearby
points of interest.

During this same period, the Alaska Railroad
also stepped in to help. Recognizing the increas-
ing importance of tourism, and endeavoring to
satisfy the growing clientele, the Alaska Rail-
road decided to erect “a fine large rustic-type
arch-way, over the park highway, about 500 feet
south of the railroad depot.” Supt. Karstens also
favored the idea, even though the park boundary
was several miles to the west, because there was
“nothing present which is indicative of Mount
McKinley National Park...”. The arch was erect-
ed in May 1926. On a broader level, the railroad
was also hard at work incorporating the park into
its tourist image. Its advertising brochures and its
boxcars soon began to proclaim that the Alaska
Railroad was “the Mount McKinley Route,” and
for years afterward, the railroad prominently
mentioned both the park’s beauty and the re-
wards of a park visit.

Anxious to reap rewards from the increasing
numbers of tourists, the concessioner purchased
26 10’ x 12’ “tent-houses” for their Savage Camp
guests, each of which was supplied with “two
beds, washstands and other features.” For com-
munal purposes, they also built a cook-house,
garage, social hall, dining room, store tent, two
barns and a feed and harness cache. The cook-
house was of frame construction, but all of the
other improvements were built of canvas with a
rough wood frame. The newly-improved camp
buildings, which constituted the company’s base
camp, were erected in May and June 1926. That
fall, the canvas component of each building was
packed away. Each spring, a camp of a similar
size and complexity was rebuilt there.”> Given
that arrangement, park visitation continued to
rise. For the remainder of the decade the park
attracted more than 500 visitors each summer,
and in 1929 visitation topped 1,000 for the first
time (see Appendix B). Times were good for the
park concessioner, and in January 1929 the NPS
renewed the company’s contract at the park; that
contract was good for another ten years.?

Life among the Savage Camp tourists during

this period is perhaps best summed up by the
reminiscences of Lena Howard, who worked at
the camp most of the summers between 1927
and 1941. In excerpts from a 1972 interview, she
noted that
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The concession company’s touring car
fleet. Candy Waugaman Collection

Savage Camp - tents and horse corral.
Candy Waugaman Collection

Guests boarding the stage for a day
trip. Lingo Collection

caribou, bears, and foxes. This tour commenced
in 1926 and continued through the early 1930s.%
To provide park visitors a further diversion, the
ARC in 1928 constructed a two-mile pack trail
down the west side of the Savage River north
from the bridge crossing. Over this route, the
concessioner provided pack-saddle trips during
the late 1920s and early 1930s.%

For those tourists who had the time and means to
head farther into the park, the park concessioner
offered a variety of extended trips. One two-day
saddle-horse trip took the visitor to the head of
Savage River, then back to camp via Sanctuary
River; another trip headed out to Igloo Creek;

while the most expensive trip, played out over
eight days, took the visitor all the way to Copper
Mountain. In order to support those trips, the
concessioner, by 1928, built tent camps at Igloo
Creek, Toklat River, and Copper Mountain; the
Igloo facility was 5 tents and a cache, while the
others consisted of three tents and a cache. The
company also erected a tent at Polychrome Pass,
presumably as a mid-day rest stop.’!

Park Patrols and Game Protection

As noted above, the ARC in 1924 began to
construct a series of patrol cabins along the park
road, in 1927 the NPS built one of its own (at
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Toklat), and by 1931 there were six cabins scat-
tered along the park road where rangers could
either stay en route to more distant points or use
as long-term bases of operations. The primary
reason for the rangers’ patrols was to keep on the
lookout for poachers, and extant records show
that poaching was a constant menace during

the park’s early years. Inasmuch as Congress,
goaded by Sheldon, had established the park as a
game refuge in order to protect the magnificent
caribou, sheep, bear, moose, and other large ani-
mals, Karstens recognized that the prevention of
poaching had to be a top priority. And because
most potential poachers lived near the park’s
northern and eastern boundaries, early enforce-
ment efforts were concentrated in those areas.
As late as the winter of 1927-28, rangers were
forced to bunk in substandard “ranger stations”
at Savage River, Boundary Creek, Ewe Creek,
Toklat River, East Fork, Riley Creek, and Windy
Creek. These structures were abandoned cabins
that hunters or trappers had built before the park
had been established.*

Toward the western end of the park, rangers had
few if any cabins upon which they could rely. To
overcome this lack of cabins, rangers in 1926
began building their own. That April, the Stony
Creek Ranger Station (near the Stony Creek-



Many guests enjoyed horseback rid-
ing. Candy Waugaman Collection

We had camps, tents, and they
enjoyed the frontier life, and others
didn’t, just like today. So many people
said “Oh, when you get the hotel built,
we’ll be back” and others would say
“Don’t ever build the hotel, that’ll
spoil it all.” People would be disap-
pointed because there was no snow.
“Oh, we expected to get lines of dog
teams!” Isaid, “in the summertime?”
(laughs) We had the horses at the
camp, but [the company also] had
cars, open cars. Studebakers, Dodges,
Pierce Arrows.

And then they said “Do we get the
same kind of food here that we get at
home?” and they thought everything
should be different. I think we had
pork for one meal (they were 24-hour
people) and roast beef for the other
meal. (laughs) They thought they
were eating sheep meat. We usually
had ham and bacon for breakfast.
And they always enjoyed sourdough
hotcakes in the morning, that was a
must.

Most of the [visitors] were from
New York and California. They were
the most traveled people. Mostly el-
derly people. At that time there were
retired people and schoolteachers and
doctors and very few young people at
that time, because the young people
couldn’t afford it. Most of them were
24-hour people and [there were also]
some 48-hour people. And the main
thing was to see Mount McKinley and
sometimes they would blame us for
the mountain not being out! (laughs)

We had animals around the camp.
We had foxes that would come to be
fed and birds and ptarmigan. Differ-
ent kinds of birds that would come
around. Sometime from camp we
could see caribou, sometimes moose.

[Camp manager Bobby Sheldon
was] a great entertainer. He had a
knack of keeping people happy. He
was in Skagway at the time when
Soapy Smith was killed [so] he used
to entertain them at night with the
account of “The Shooting of Soapy
Smith.” And Harry Karstens, the Su-
perintendent at the time, he gave talks
about climbing the mountain.?”

Some park visitors were interested in traveling to
places beyond Savage Camp. While the tightly-
controlled schedules that most visitors followed
during their Alaska tour ruled out longer trips,
the company catered to more long-term visitors
by hastening to construct sufficient improve-
ments in the more far-flung areas of the park.
One of the first areas to be developed, with the
Alaska Road Commission’s concurrence, was the
Savage River basin, in areas both north and south
of the main concessions camp. Park records
show that Supt. Karstens drove the first automo-
bile to “the head of Savage River” in the summer
of 1924. Then, in 1927, the ARC improved the
“coach road” for nine miles up the west side of
Savage River valley to a tent complex dubbed
Caribou Camp. (In 1922, Olaus Murie of the
U.S. Biological Survey had erected a corral in that
area to capture caribou.)?® Over that route, the
concessioner operated horse-drawn stages and,
later, automobiles; the trip was called “the Big
Game Drive,” along which could be seen sheep,
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The present Igloo Campground oc-
cupies the footprint of the earlier
Mt. McKinley Tourist & Transporta-
tion Company’s Igloo Camp. Lingo
Collection, Denali National Park and
Preserve Museum Collection

The McKinley Bar cabin was built by
ranger Grant Pearson in 1926, located
on the McKinley River close to the
original (1917) park boundary. Also
referred to as the Kantishna Ranger
Station, it burned to the ground in
1956. B67-23-47, Anchorage Museum
of History & Art

evidence of Donnelly hunting inside the park
boundary, but despite the “clear case” against
him, Karstens discovered a serious “lack of
cooperation on the part of the territorial game
warden,” a man by the name of Burrows.*! And
after a February 12 trial in nearby Healy (see
Appendix E), he ruefully noted that “the pros-
ecution failed because of the reluctance of the
people, as represented by an average jury in this
instance, to convict anyone for illegal hunting.”
He recognized that changing public attitudes

in this area “promises to be a slow and tedious”
process “requiring much missionary work.”#

The other case, more insidious, involved William
N. Beach, a well-known and wealthy outdoors
big-game hunter, writer, and filmmaker. In
August 1922, Beach told NPS officials that he
and fellow New Yorker George Godley planned
to visit the park. Agency officials, wanting to
disabuse Beach of the widely-held myth that
“this Reservation was created for the benefit of
big Game Hunters from the states,” told him
that hunting was not allowed in the park. Beach
was obviously disappointed, but decided to

visit the park to film its wildlife. At the end of
their trip into the park, the men told Karstens
that they had “managed to get some very good
moving pictures of game” during their visit.#
But unbeknownst to Karstens, Beach had shot a
Dall sheep near his Igloo Creek camp; an Alaska
game warden passing through the camp saw the
trophy but had made no move to report it. After
returning to New York, Beach sent Karstens a
new Mauser; the superintendent, perhaps per-
plexed by the gift, accepted the German-made
rifle but didn’t use it. The entire incident may
have been forgotten, but in the coming months,
Beach attended a society dinner back east and
bragged to his table companion that he had killed
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a sheep in Mount McKinley National Park. That
companion was the NPS’s assistant field director.
The agency soon obtained a signed statement
from the flustered New Yorker acknowledging
the illegal sheep kill. Karstens, once informed of
the incident, returned the rifle, which was still in
mint condition. Beach’s case was adjudicated in
Fairbanks in September 1923. After some legal
wrangling, Beach pled guilty, claiming that a lack
of provisions forced him to act. A sympathetic
U.S. Commissioner fined him just $10 and court
costs. Karstens was somewhat miffed at the
modest fine, but he observed that convicting
anyone for illegal hunting in Alaska—let alone
levying a fine—was “quite a feat.”*

The publicity engendered by these two cases,
plus the park staff’s quiet proselytizing while on
their intermittent treks along the park boundary,
made it clear to area residents and any potential
market hunters that the park was a game pre-
serve in which the hunting laws were enforced.
Given that state of affairs, enforcement problems
tapered off beginning in the summer of 1924. By
October 1924, two months into the fall hunting
season, Karstens reported that there “has been
no hunting within the park boundaries,” and by
December, he noted that “attempts at hunting
within the boundaries are few, the people living



The Copper Mountain Cabin was
located just south of Thorofare River,
about halfway between the McKinley
Bar Cabin and the Toklat Ranger
Cabin. It provided welcome shelter in
this treeless area. DENA 3975, Denali
National Park and Preserve Museum
Collection

Boundary Creek confluence)
was completed, and later that
year rangers constructed a
second cabin, on the northern
forested edge of McKinley Bar
(a few miles south of Wonder
Lake), which was dubbed the
Kantishna Ranger Station.*
And beginning in March 1927,
rangers erected a cabin at
McLeod Creek, twelve miles
west of the McKinley Bar sta-
tion.** No cabins were built
west of McLeod Creek because
poaching in that isolated area was not perceived
to be a problem.

By the late spring of 1927, rangers could count on
arough assemblage of cabins—built by either the
NPS, the ARC, or by prospectors—along both
the northern boundary and along the right-of-
way of the park road. But for rangers mushing
west from headquarters to either the McKinley
Bar or McLeod Creek cabins, there were few if
any shelters west of the Toklat River’s East Fork.
(One ranger report stated that “rangers must stop
where night overtakes them. A spruce tree is the
best shelter to be found, while in some barren
sections it is difficult to find enough willows for
fire-wood.”) To help bridge that gap, rangers
built the Toklat Relief Cabin in the summer of
1927. That December, however, ranger Grant
Pearson nearly died during a December 1927
blizzard while on patrol near Muldrow Glacier.
In response, the park superintendent vowed that
there had to “be enough cabins along the main
trail through the park to enable the rangers to
reach one in one day’s travel.” To fulfill that goal,
Pearson began gathering logs for the Copper
Mountain relief cabin. That cabin, which was
located on the south side of the broad Thoro-
fare River at Grant Creek, was erected in 1928.3
Depending on the circumstances, rangers stayed
in some of these cabins for overnight protection
or for short layovers; cabins at the western end
of the park, however—specifically the Toklat,
Copper Mountain, and McKinley Bar cabins—
served as ranger bases of operation for extended
wintertime periods.

The rangers, in the park’s early days, had good
reason to carry on their boundary patrols
because poaching was a constant threat. In his
first foray into the park, in the spring of 1921,
Karstens had encountered two trapping parties
along the northern boundary and also “noticed
well beaten horse and dog sled tracks on the old
snow drifts.” The following March, he made a
repeat reconnaissance; he found two hunting
camps (one on the Savage River, one on Sanctu-

ary); during the same period, he learned that
there were “several parties camped just outside
the line” at the park’s southeastern corner “who
have brought in sheep to sell to the roadhouses.”
To both groups, he could find nothing to prove
poaching in the park, and he wistfully opined
that there would have been more, except “beef
shipped in from the States is fairly cheap, caus-
ing a poor market for those hunting game.”
Karstens felt that “most of the people in and
around the park are well disposed ... to observe
the rules and regulations, except a certain ele-
ment who do not recognize any authority and
take advantage of the small force for patrol to
poach when ever possible.” That summer of
1922, he readily admitted that hard evidence of
poaching was “negligible” in the park, but as the
head of a severely understaffed park, he often
received rumors of rampant poaching going on
in the Cantwell area, along the Toklat and Stony
rivers, and elsewhere.?”

For the next two years, protecting the park’s ani-
mal life proved a thankless, endlessly frustrating
chore. Although Karstens and other park staff
had few personal encounters with poachers, evi-
dence found while on patrol underscored the fact
that the practice was continuing.®® Trapping was
also a problem, particularly at the remote western
end of the park, where Slim Carlson on Clearwa-
ter Creek, Gus Bench on Birch Creek, and Slim
Avery on Foraker River were “doing pretty much
as they please.”® Exacerbating the problem was
the local residents’ laissez faire attitude toward
hunting in the park; as Karstens noted, “People
here deem it a crime to give evidence against ille-
gal hunting; they admit it should be stopped, but
are reluctant to give evidence,” and park person-
nel trying to enforce the game laws were called
“informers and stool pigeons.”*

This attitude was painfully obvious in the pros-
ecution of two poaching incidents. In February
1923, Karstens found a hunting camp that Jack
Donnelly had built inside the park boundary; he
told Donnelly to leave but chose not to pros-
ecute. Later that year, however, park staff found
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The Stony Creek Ranger Station
provided shelter for rangers patrol-
ling the park’s northern boundary.
Pictured here are rangers Wallace
Anderson and Lee Swisher along with
Arch Sisley, packer for J.C. Reed’s 1931
USGS party. J. C. Reed, U.S. Geologi-

ages, and he also hoped to add a five-mile strip
north of the park between the railroad and the
Toklat River. The “wild game” located beyond
the park’s northern boundary, he claimed, was
“probably the greatest attraction which the Park
Service will have,” and the eastern and southeast-
ern sections contained “a good deal of game.”

In addition, an extension was needed because it
was difficult to enforce or monitor hunting access
into the existing park.’!

Mears’s proposal was forwarded to George A.
Parks of the General Land Office, who made a
thorough investigation and issued a final report in
November 1922. It was not encouraging. Parks
obtained statements from Olaus Murie, Maurice
Morino, and even Harry Karstens that debunked
the notion that the eastern strip was laden with
game; he noted, in fact, that it

“contains no game of any kind

other than birds.” In addition,
Murie—according to Parks—

stated that the caribou that

often grazed north of the park

boundaries were indicators of

a particularly large herd and

“that unless the surplus caribou

are killed, the range within the

park will soon be overstocked.”

And in response to Mears’s

ease-of-patrol argument, Parks

stated that virtually all hunters

hoping to enter the park would

use either Riley Creek or Windy

Creek, and to him, “efficient rangers can patrol
these places just as easily as they can forty miles
of railroad.”? Interior Department officials in
Washington lost further interest in the idea. But
for the remainder of the decade, Karstens and his
staff made repeated recommendations to have
the boundary moved eastward: either to the rail-
road, to the Nenana River, or merely to have the
mile-wide strip that had been the subject of the
January 13, 1922 executive order included in the
park.?® The problem remained unresolved.

An even murkier problem related to the protec-
tion of the park’s game was a clause in the park
bill related to subsistence hunting by miners and
prospectors. As noted in Chapter 2, such a clause
had been insisted upon by Alaska Delegate James
Wickersham, and as a result, Section 6 of the park
bill—which stated that “no person shall kill any
game in said park ...” had an express provision
“that prospectors and miners engaged in pros-
pecting or mining in said park may take and kill
therein so much game or birds as may be needed
for their actual necessities when short of food;
but in no case shall animals or birds be killed

in said park for sale or removal therefrom, or
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wantonly.”>* The area in and around the park, at
the time, was ripe for prospecting; and as reports
throughout the 1920s show, prospecting (which
was legal because of Section 4 in the park bill)
took place in many drainages within the park.”
Karstens, mindful of Section 6 and its rational-
ity, soon developed misgivings about it. First,

he found the section unenforceable, inasmuch it
allowed virtually all nearby residents to claim that
they were prospecting. In addition, however, the
fact that prospectors often killed numerous park
animals for their dog teams (whether or not the
meat was “for their actual necessities when short
of food”) seemed to be a flagrant flouting of the
section’s intent.

His inability to distinguish between prospectors,
miners, and other hunters led him to suggest, as

early as February 1923, that “a regulation should
be inserted ... making it compulsory for prospec-
tors and visitors to any one mine, when practical,
to get a permit to enter the park, and to report
when coming out and show entrance permit...”,
and two months later, he noted that “game ... is
getting thinned out around Copper Mountain
where quite a number of prospectors and min-
ers have been located”. At year’s end, Interior
Secretary Hubert Work charged in his annual
report (after his July visit) that “few prospec-
tors observe the rules; the majority wantonly kill
game for themselves and dogs. ... if the pres-

ent rate of destruction continues the object for
which the park was created will be defeated.”>®
Park staff was well aware that the farther reaches
of the park—in the Toklat River drainage and
beyond—was “where promiscuous hunting [was]
done very extensively.” In order to deal with the
problem, therefore, Karstens dispatched rang-
ers into those areas beginning in the winter of
1925-26; given that presence, they were able to
document the extent of the problem and discuss
the park’s regulations with miners and prospec-
tors from Copper Mountain, Kantishna, and
nearby areas.”’



By 1921, prospectors had begun stak-
ing claims in the Copper Mountain
area, deep inside the original bound-
aries of Mt. McKinley National Park.
Because of this camp’s remoteness
and difficulty of access, prospectors
relied on hunting to supply their
dietary needs. Brooks Collection, 68-
32-313, University of Alaska Fairbanks

close to the park, are as a general rule, showing
more interest and better feeling regarding the
park.”® The only known case of poaching that
fall had been perpetrated by two Nenana-area
Natives. Karstens soon learned that the two
men were nearly destitute due to a poor fish run
that year. In addition, they mistakenly thought
that the kill site was outside of park boundar-
ies, and Karstens saw that they were “pretty well
scared and repentant.” Given those conditions,
Karstens chose not to prosecute, and neither
they nor other Natives were suspected in future
poaching incidents.* The “better feeling” that
Karstens had noted in 1924 continued into the
following year; that September, the superinten-

dent optimistically told his superiors that “several
patrol trips were made by the rangers on which
they found no hunting on the boundaries or in
the park.”” The problem of illegal hunting, of
course, did not disappear; miscreants along the
park borders, primarily trappers southwest of
Kantishna, would continue to make illegal kills
for the remainder of the decade. By the mid-
1920s, however, park staff had successfully halted
the widespread depredation of park wildlife by
those market hunters and local residents who
lived near the northern and eastern park bound-
aries.®

Complicating the problem of enforcing the
park’s hunting laws during the mid- to late 1920s
was the arbitrary location of the park’s eastern
boundary. As noted in Chapter 3, the eastern
boundary had been extended east as a result of
discussions that Charles Sheldon had begun in

April 1921. Sheldon had initially suggested that
the boundary line be moved east to the railroad
right-of-way; Demaray, however, noted that
such an attempt “would result in bringing local
opposition which might defeat the extension
then proposed.” Given that opposition—real or
perceived—Alaska delegate Dan Sutherland sub-
mitted a bill to move the boundary to the 149
meridian. That bill encountered little opposition
and was signed by President Harding on January
30,1922.%

The ink from his signature was hardly dry, how-
ever, before NPS officials began to lobby for the
boundary to be moved farther to the east. On
February 3, 1922, Karstens—perhaps unaware of

Washington activities in the matter—wrote that
“if the park eastern boundary is not run down to
the railroad ... opportunities ... to poach park
sheep .. .are going to cause great temptation to
any one owning a gun, and will require a large
force of rangers to patrol the eastern boundary.”
That May, he further stated that the three-mile
section between the new boundary and the
railroad “should be taken into the park” because
“it will be a source of trouble as long as it is open
... the head of Riley creek and the head of Windy
creek sections are really wonderful game coun-
tries and it is a crime to leave that small stretch of
country out of the park.”*® AEC official Freder-
ick Mears concurred with that recommendation,
and on May 29 he wrote a formal proposal to In-
terior Secretary Albert B. Fall “to extend the east-
ern boundary of the park to the Railroad.” He
wanted to include, in the southeastern end of the
park, all of the Cantwell and Windy creek drain-
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Before 1928, prospectors traveling
through the park could lawfully hunt
inside the park for their own needs,
but not to feed dog teams. Alaska
Road Commission Collection, PCA61-
77-1187, Alaska State Library

bill (H.R. 8126) until the December of that year;
Rep. Charles Curry (R-Calif.) steered it through
a January 4 committee vote, and it reached the
House floor in mid-January. But the person who
spoke on behalf of the bill, Rep. Louis Cramton
(R-Mich.), supported not only the repeal of

the budget limitation, but he further stated that
“if there is prospecting, the prospector should
not be permitted to kill game.” Cramton knew
that conditions for prospecting in the park had
dramatically changed in recent years, to the point
that “there is no prospecting at the present time
in the park area.”®® But he may also have been
tipped off that several poaching incidents had
taken place in the last two years and that there
were “about 35 or 40 trappers” along the park’s
northern and eastern boundaries, “practically
all” of whom had “from 5 to 9 dogs which are

fed principally on caribou and sheep.”% Alaska
Delegate Sutherland admitted to a “reluctance
about making a change in the status quo,” but

he also remarked that “I feel I have to yield to

the inevitable, to the onward trend of conserva-
tion, which is extending all over the Territory.”
Cramton then moved to amend H.R. 8126 to
include the repeal of the last provision in Section
6, and the full House accepted the amendment
and passed the entire bill.*” Unanimous votes on
March 27 and May 14 brought the language in
the Senate and House votes together, and on May
21, President Herbert Hoover signed H.R. 8126
into law.®® This law eliminated the park’s $10,000
budgetary ceiling (which had been a provision of
the original park bill), and it also prohibited pros-
pectors from killing game, for any reason, within
the park boundaries.

Staff Changes and Headquarters Growth
As noted above, the key to the NPS being able
to protect its wildlife—and to put a human face
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behind the laws and regulations under which it
operated—was having a viable staff. Asnoted in
the previous chapter, Superintendent Karstens
was the park’s only staff member from July 1921
until the following November. (See Appendix
C.) From then until July 1924, a single ranger
worked with Karstens. Due to the stress of both
working and living conditions, however, five men
served in that role during that 30-month pe-
riod. The first ranger to serve more than a year,
Ernest McFarland, left in a cloud of acrimony in
September 1924. But during that same period,
Karstens hired Fritz A. Nyberg, who had been
part of that summer’s ARC crew, and shortly
afterward he brought on Robert H. Degen.®
Karstens was pleasantly surprised with both
men; in his October report, he noted that “the
two young huskie rangers are doing excellent
work, they are both very much interested in the
park and their work and deserve much credit

for their willingness under all conditions.” Two
months later, Degen left for personal reasons—it
was “a case of either the Girl or the Job and the
Girl won”—but Nyberg stayed on. A year later,
the Superintendent recognized Nyberg as a cut
above the other rangers, and the two men were
openly weary of training rangers for what turned
out to be short-term assignments. In January
1926, Karstens noted that “men who can stand
the isolation and the hardships of the trail, are
very hard to find and after a few weeks’ trial, do
not always show up as well as might be and their
resignations are then requested.”” But just when
he seemed to be most despairing of his staff, a
25-year-old from Michigan, Grant Pearson, land-
ed ajob as temporary ranger. Pearson, who had
been in Alaska less than a year, enjoyed working
at the park so much that he remained there—as a
ranger, chief ranger, or superintendent—for most
of the next thirty years. Pearson, along with Ny-



This prospector’s cache at Copper
Mountain represents considerable
effort in transporting materials to this
remote location. Dog teams were a
primary means of travel for prospec-
tors in the park. Nyberg Collection,
DENA 1500p31, Denali National Park
and Preserve Museum Collection

Meanwhile park staff and advocacy groups
searched for ways to lessen the harvest level.
Efforts began back in the spring of 1923 when,
in response to the rumored establishment of a
corporate mine in the Copper Mountain area,
the National Parks Committee (an NPS “friends”
group chaired by George Bird Grinnell) passed
aresolution asking the NPS director to prohibit
mining-company employees from killing game
“for community food service.” Instead, they
advocated the killing of game only “by bona fide
prospectors for their own use.” Acting Director
Arno Cammerer responded to those actions by
recommending “that certain zones be established
within the park where hunting will be prohib-
ited.”*® Superintendent Karstens broached
Cammerer’s idea with the park’s prospectors;

he suggested “closing the eastern portion of the
Park between the Stony and the railroad [where
prospecting possibilities were acknowledged

to be poor] to all hunting. ... The prospectors I
have talked with on the subject are in favor of this
and will sign a petition to that effect.”® During
the same period, Karstens broached the same
subject more broadly; at an Anchorage speaking
engagement that May, he “brought up the ques-
tion of illegal hunting and the fallacy of allowing
so-called prospectors to hunt promiscuously.

... I asked their assistance to, if not possible to
eliminate hunting altogether, at least give a hand
toward regulating it for the ultimate benefit of all
concerned.”®

Little activity took place on this issue during

the next couple of years, but in the meantime, a
seemingly unrelated issue—the park’s budgetary
ceiling—gathered steam. As noted in Chapter 2,
Section 7 of the park act noted “that no appro-
priation for the maintenance of said park in ex-
cess of $10,000 annually shall be made unless the
same shall have first been expressly authorized
by law.” The agency’s first appropriations for the
park, in the 1922 through 1924 fiscal years, were
just $8,000.%" (See Appendix B.) But by March of
1924, with Congress on the verge of authorizing
a three-year roadbuilding program for the park,
Alaska Delegate Dan Sutherland submitted a bill
(H.R. 8020) that would have eliminated that pro-
viso within Section 7.9 That bill went nowhere,
and the NPS continued to fight an uphill battle
with Congress to provide minimal park funding.®*
Then, in 1927, the subject arose again in a bill
submitted by Sen. Frank B. Willis (R-Ohio), the
chair of the Committee on Territories and Insular
Possessions, after a favorable recommendation
by Interior Secretary Work. S. 5006 was deemed
necessary because the park road, by now, was
some 22 miles long. (See Appendix F.) It was
further anticipated that “maintenance will be
fairly heavy” on the road and that estimates for
1929 maintenance work on the park road, then
being prepared, “will probably exceed $10,000.”
Given the broad support in Congress for the park
road, S. 5006 emerged from its committee on
February 15 and it passed the Senate on February
28.64

The House did not submit its own version of the
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Fritz Nyberg is pictured in July
1928 at a headquarters cabin.
Supt. Karstens noted that on
Nyberg's first day of work, August
29, 1924, he fitted Nyberg out
“and sent him [by railroad] to
Cantwell with instructions to go
up Windy into the park, cross over
and come down the Cantwell [Ne-
nana] River.” Nyberg Collection,
DENA 1502p52, Denali National
Park and Preserve Museum Col-

of 1925, it will be recalled, park staff moved the
park headquarters up to a new site that was south
of the park road and west of Rock Creek. That
year, park personnel were able to complete only
the superintendent’s residence and the nearby
clerk’s cabin before winter set in. These build-
ings, moreover, were slapped together so quickly
that both men spent most of November working
on their quarters during their off hours.”

The following year, construction continued. In
April 1926, work began on a new park office or
administration building, and two months later
rangers began to erect a chief ranger’s cabin for
Fritz Nyberg, who was selected for that newly-
established position. Both of those buildings
were completed in late July.3° Later that summer,
construction began on a combination cookhouse
for dog feed and a cache for dog-food stor-

age; that work was supplemented the following
summer by the construction of new dog ken-
nels. Also constructed in 1927 was the park’s
first garage; this wood-sided affair was a vast
improvement over a “temporary shelter of poles
and canvas” that had been hurriedly constructed
in late 1925 in hopes that staff would be able to
start the park’s “auto truck,” which was its sole
motor vehicle at the time.?" All of these buildings
were constructed by park rangers using locally-
available tools at almost no cost to the taxpayer,
and the layout of the camp squarely separated the
residential and work areas from the dog kennels.
Regarding utilities, coal for the park was deliv-
ered once a year to McKinley

Park Station by the Healy River

Coal Company.®> Outhouses

were the norm at first, but in the

summer of 1927 the park or-

dered chemical toilets for each

of the park residences.?* Water

had to be obtained, bucket by

bucket, from Rock Creek, and

garbage disposal (at a newly-

established dump site on the

edge of the headquarters area)

was also each employee’s re-

sponsibility.** Evidence of this

early lifestyle, as it turned out,

was fleeting indeed; most of

the headquarters’ first-generation buildings were
demolished during the 1930s and 1940s, and all
traces of both the first dog kennel site (1927-
1938) and dump site have been obliterated.®

Refinements came to the headquarters area in
the summer of 1927 when an ARC crew graded
out the ramrod-straight “main street” that has
visually defined the headquarters area ever since.
Karstens noted that the work would be “the first
step towards the construction of a well-defined
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system of streets. This street ... leads due south
toward the dog-kennels and other outhouses
[outbuildings]. Tourists, who greatly enjoy
viewing the dogs, now have the benefit of a good
walking place for the ‘pilgrimage.””* Dogs, in
fact, had long been an integral part of park op-
erations. Karstens had purchased the park’s first
dogs—a team of seven “good, young dogs”—in
February 1922. He built the first dog houses that
fall, and by the close of 1923 there were thirteen
dogs in the park’s care, a number that would
more than double in the next few years.®” Each
year through 1925, Karstens had the park’s dogs
spend each summer at Hadley’s Camp, a fish
camp 25 miles down the Tanana River from Fair-
banks.?® But by 1926, he had grown to recognize
that “the Alaskan sled-dogs are always a source of
interest to our park visitors here.” As a result, he
decided to clear ground in the newly-established
headquarters area (“about 200 to 250 feet further
south than where formerly located” and near
present-day residences 26 and 34) and have the
dogs live year-round at the park.® His provision
of a large area specifically allotted to the park’s
dog teams may have marked the first time that
NPS staff constructed facilities with park visitors’
needs in mind. Neither Karstens nor other park
employees, however, were particularly senti-
mental about dogs; their primary purpose was to
conduct wintertime patrols, and park employees
often culled animals that were either “worthless
through old age” or simply too numerous for
their needs.”

In March 1928, an increase in the park’s bud-

get promised further refinements to the head-
quarters area. Karstens, noting that the recent
allotment “is the first amount that has ever been
allotted to this park for new construction,” stated
that “all future development about headquar-
ters will be influenced by the proper spacing of
these buildings and the space reserved for future
construction.” He then invited the participation
of Thomas C. Vint, the agency’s Chief Landscape



Ranger Grant Pearson at the McLeod

Creek cabin, which in 1927 was under
construction. Pearson began work at
the park in February 1926 and retired

as superintendent in November, 1956.

DENA 6-1, Denali National Park and
Preserve Museum Collection

berg, became two of the best known rangers at
the park, and no further complaints were voiced
about the quality of the park’s ranger staff.”

To work at the park during this period was not
merely to have a job; to a far greater extent, it was
an immersion in a lifestyle. All park personnel
during this period—be they rangers, laborers,

the park clerk, or the superintendent—served

as jack-of-all-trades. And depending on the
circumstances, virtually everyone played a hand
at building and maintaining cabins, loading and
hauling coal, carrying water and sewage, hitching
up the horse team™, feeding the dogs, entertain-
ing dignitaries, maintaining the weather station”,
interacting with concession employees, and an-
swering visitors’ questions. Then as now, weath-
er and snow conditions could be extreme, and
the sun did not directly shine on the headquar-
ters area for more than a month during Decem-
ber and January.” Staff sometimes endured long
periods of isolation, even at headquarters,” and
the staff was so small (and often so dispersed)
that there were few opportunities for community
social activities, either among themselves or with
McKinley Park Station residents. A ranger’s sal-
ary was often significantly less than the prevail-
ing Alaska wage rate—a fact that Karstens often
grumbled about—and training opportunities
were practically nonexistent.” Thus it was little
wonder that park jobs had a high turnover. But,
as noted above, a few rangers loved the rugged,
raw lifestyle and the freedoms it offered.

A common theme in Karstens’s reports to
Washington was a plea for more staft and a higher

budget, and as the years rolled by, both grew. In
July 1924 the staff increased to three with the ad-
dition of a new ranger, and a year later, Karstens
was able to hire his first clerk, Ralph Mackie. By
1926 the staff had risen to six, and by the end of
the decade eight men were on the payroll. The
budget, during this period grew from the $8,000
that had been allotted in fiscal years 1922-1924
up to $35,000-plus in fiscal years 1929 and 1930.
(See Appendix B.) These increases did not stop
the superintendent from clamoring for more
employees and a higher budget; despite the fact
that Mount McKinley was almost as large as Yel-
lowstone, the country’s largest national park,”
Mount McKinley’s budget and staff were still
skeletal in comparison to most other national
parks. A glance at national park budgets from the
1925-1930 period shows that Mount McKinley
National Park consumed less than one-half of
one percent of the agency’s budget; by contrast,
both Yosemite and Yellowstone accounted for
more than ten percent of the 1925 budget and
five percent of the 1930 budget. Of ten sampled
parks, only two—Hawaii and Lassen Volcanic—
were funded more poorly than Mount McKin-
ley.”

Aside from game protection, one of the most
important tasks that park rangers performed was
the construction and maintenance of park build-
ings. As noted above, rangers played an impor-
tant role (along with the Alaska Road Commis-
sion) in building and caring for a series of cabins
along the park road. Just as important, however,
was the rangers’ role in constructing a new,
functional base of operations. In the summer

Chapter Four: The Cabins-and-Snowshoes Era, 1925-1936 61



Harry Karstens at the new
headquarters sled dog kennel.
Nyberg Album, Denali National Park
and Preserve Museum Collection

summer of 1929, a 27,000-gallon reservoir was
excavated, a pump and gasoline engine was
installed, water and sewer mains were laid, and
“fifteen inches of dry moss put on [to] keep it
from freezing.” The system was completed that
September.!® Just a month later, Liek purchased
a Kohler lighting system, and soon afterward the
lighting plant was installed in the basement of the
park’s office building. At first, wires were simply
strung via the “roof-to-roof method,” butin 1931
a series of light poles were erected throughout
the headquarters complex.! Because the water
and sewer lines were vulnerable to freezing, park
staff in 1932 decided to open up the trenches
again and lay a steam line adjacent to them, to be
powered by a second-hand, wood-fired boiler.
That project was completed in 1933 and proved
satisfactory, for the most part, for the remainder
of the decade.!®® But throughout this period,
there was no attempt to provide central heat-

ing to homes and offices; instead, coal was the
predominant fuel source.!%

The other major development during this period
was that trucks and automobiles were taking over
many of the duties previously assigned to horse
teams. As noted in Chapter 3, Karstens had
purchased the park’s first car (a Ford) back in

the spring of 1922; he had done so, using his own
funds, to power a wood saw. Three years later,
he bought an “auto truck.” He was so convinced
of the truck’s usefulness that he looked forward

62 Crown Jewel of the North: An Administrative History of Denali National Park and Preserve

to getting rid of the park’s horses and, instead,
purchasing a small tractor to pull stumps, haul
logs, maintain headquarters-area roads, and
similar tasks.!” No such tractor was purchased,
however, and the park continued to keep a team
of horses; they were used primarily during the
winter and came in especially handy in mid-
winter, after the ARC crew had left, to make the
two-mile trip between headquarters and McKin-
ley Park Station. They also hauled supplies to
the park’s cabins. They were useless, however, in
deep snow conditions.'® In 1932, park person-
nel bought “a new Ford Model B runabout with
pick-up body,”” and three years later—a decade
after the idea was first floated—they finally pur-
chased a Caterpillar tractor. As a result, horses
were used only sporadically after 1934, and they
apparently disappeared entirely from the park by
the end of the decade.!!?

Aside from their work at headquarters, NPS
rangers were also busy constructing a series of
patrol cabins along the park’s northern bor-

der during this period. As noted above, patrol
rangers during the late 1920s used a series of
cabins—some built by rangers, others holdovers
from prospecting days—along that portion of
the boundary between the Nenana and Toklat
rivers. But at least one of those cabins was in
“very dilapidated condition,” and by 1929, Liek
stated that two or more “shelter cabins will have
to be erected along the [northern boundary] line



Taken in 1935, this photograph still
shows the early configuration

of the new park headquarters. Note
that the park kennels were located in
what is now the residential area.
Lincoln Washburn Photo, DENA 3906,
Denali National Park and Preserve
Museum Collection

Architect, to help plan new construction.”® But
Vint, who arrived in the summer of 1929, recom-
mended that the headquarters be moved back

to McKinley Park Station. Vint’s recommenda-
tion, however, was later overruled. Because of
his stance, he played no role in the headquarters
planning process.*?

Karstens, as noted above, was looking forward to
working with Vint on a variety of park projects,
both at headquarters and elsewhere. Such a
working relationship, however, never took place
because the superintendent resigned his posi-
tion in September 1928. What brought about
his resignation—an argument with a stubborn
ranger that got out of hand—was unremarkable
enough;” for over thirty years as a gold miner,
mail carrier, guide, freighter, and superintendent,
he had had no qualms about arguing, shouting,
or fighting as the occasion demanded, and he
had little patience for slackers or bureaucratic
niceties.”* NPS officials were well aware of his
volcanic temperament when they hired him; but
they also knew that no one knew the country
better, no one could work so hard and so effec-
tively under such trying conditions, and no one
could represent the new park better than he. He
was thus eminently qualified to pioneer the new
park, and because he was consistently supported
by Charles Sheldon, agency officials gave him the
benefit of the doubt. Over the years, he earned
his fair share of critics, and the Interior Depart-
ment held at least one full-blown investigation
of his conduct.”® Karstens persevered through it
all, but as the 1920s wore on, it became increas-
ingly obvious that the park was changing. By the
summer of 1928, the park had emerged from its

most rustic phase; increasing attention was being
paid to tourists, the staff and physical plant had
increased beyond the bare-bones level, and the
demands of a growing bureaucracy were turning
him from a woodsman and dog-musher into a
desk jockey and program manager. He gradually
came to realize that it was time to move on, and
on September 19, he told Washington, “I have
had enough.”* Karstens rued his resignation
for the rest of his life, and more than once he

petitioned agency officials to be rehired.”” But it
was not meant to be. When he died in November
1955, he was lauded by thousands of Alaskans,
and Outside conservationists, as the irreplace-
able human face behind the early exploration of
the park area, the taming of the mountain, the
pioneering of the park, and the guiding of the
park unit, from scratch, into a position of both
visibility and broad respectability.”®

A New Superintendent Takes Over

The man tabbed to replace Karstens was Harry
Liek, who was then serving as the assistant chief
ranger at Yellowstone National Park. Horace
Albright, who drove the selection process, was
serving as Yellowstone’s superintendent, and
the agency’s first director, Stephen Mather, was
still on the job; but within months, illness forced
Mather to step aside, and Albright took over the
agency’s reins. Albright picked Liek, in part,
because of his dependability, his administra-
tive skills, and his leadership qualities. Both

the Washington office and the park staff looked
forward to a changing of the guard. Here was

a chance to start afresh, free of the personality
conflicts that had surfaced all too often during
the Karstens superintendency.”

Liek arrived at the park in early December 1928
and immediately undertook “a general survey of
conditions,” including “several trips ... by dog
team to nearby points.”'® Despite the pre-
dominant cold and dark, he soon learned that
park activity at the headquarters area centered
on construction and improvement activities.
During that winter, rangers were hard at work
on the warehouse and the horse barn, and they
also repaired the interior of the administrative
office and the superintendent’s residence. By
June 1929 these projects were completed. That
summer, work commenced on a new superin-
tendent’s residence and a new dog-feed cache
and sled storage building, both of which were
completed the following spring. Then, in short
order, came an electric light plant (1931), a garage
(1931), a comfort station (1932), and a boiler
house (1932).1" Most of these structures were
built by NPS rangers, along with laborers who
were hired on an as-needed basis; only occasion-
ally, as with the superintendent’s house, did the
agency hire outside contractors.'”

The completion of these buildings portended
two major developments. First, it signaled

that the agency fully intended to supply basic
amenities—water, sewage, light, and heat—to
the isolated, rustic headquarters complex. In
February 1927, the park had requested funds
for a “water supply and drainage system.” That
project was approved, and in the spring and
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Superintendent Harry Liek, right, was
photographed here with National
Park Service Director Horace Albright
and Mrs. Albright who visited Mt.
McKinley National Park in 1931.
DENA 27-76, Denali National Park and
Preserve Museum Collection

The new superintendent’s house,
across the park road from the main
headquarters, was completed in early
summer 1930. It was destroyed by
fire in October 1939. DENA 4-6.5,
Denali National Park and Preserve
Museum Collection

far more marketable than a west-end location.
Both sites, moreover, had problems: the Mile

66 site would not be accessible by the park road
for several more construction seasons, and the
McKinley Park Station was a difficult choice be-
cause it was located outside the park boundaries.

The agency, as part of its park plans, tolerated
and even encouraged aviation access to the park.
During the late 1920 and early 1930s, the air age
was in its infancy in the park vicinity, as indeed

it was throughout Alaska Territory. Pioneering
aviator Carl Ben Eielson had landed the first
airplane in the park during the spring of 1924 as
part of an experimental airmail contract be-
tween Fairbanks and McGrath; according to one
source, he had landed “a number of occasions
... upon the slopes of ... Copper Mountain.” 123
The area, at that time, supported “quite a number
of prospectors and miners.”!?* Later that year,
pilot Noel Wien landed on a “short gravel bar”
along the Bearpaw River; he and his party were
headed for Kantishna, another active mining
area.'” Between 1925 and 1927, the Alaska Road
Commission bladed out its first two airfields in
the vicinity: a 1500-foot strip near Lake Min-
chumina, built as an emergency landing area for
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flights between Fairbanks and Tokotna, followed
by the 600-foot-long Kantishna Aviation Field,
“on the left limit of Moose Creek between the
creek and Wonder Lake,” which was used by area
miners along with an occasional tourist.!* In
1926 the park’s concessions chief, James L. Ga-
len, applied to the NPS “for permission to oper-
ate airplanes in the park, using some of the gravel
bars of our rivers as landing fields.” But Galen
soon had second thoughts and the “airplane sight
seeing service” was indefinitely delayed.!?”

As the 1920s gave way to the 1930s, a long-run-
ning, nationally-publicized aviation rescue op-
eration brought an unexpected change to Mount
McKinley National Park. Carl Ben Eielson, the



so rangers can make patrols from there instead
of patrolling farther back in the interior.”!!! In
1930, rangers erected a boundary-line patrol
cabin along the East Fork of the Toklat, followed
by similar structures at the mouth of Sunday
Creek!!? in the Savage River drainage (1931),
lower Toklat River (1931), and “Shushana Creek”
(Sushana River, 1932).13 Cabins were also built
in the park’s southeastern corner. A new Upper
Windy cabin, near Cantwell, was built in 1931

to replace a 1924 NPS-built cabin, and the Riley
Creek cabin, located halfway between the Upper
Windy cabin and headquarters, was erected the
same year.!!4

The ARC, by the time of Liek’s arrival, had
completed the park road almost as far as Sable
Pass, about 39 miles west of McKinley Park Sta-
tion (see Appendix F). Given a reliable funding
stream thanks to annual NPS appropriations,
Commission crews made remarkable strides
during the next several field seasons. In 1929, the
road was pushed ahead to the eastern bank of the
Toklat River’s East Fork, and the following year,
crews pushed ahead and conquered a master-
ful, if dizzying, route up to Polychrome Pass and
beyond. In 1931, the road was extended eight
miles, including the half-mile-long double bridge
across the Toklat River (see Appendix G). And in
1932, the ARC had perhaps its most productive
year ever when it built 11’2 miles of new road and
surmounted Highway Pass, Stony Hill Overlook,
and Thorofare Pass to Mile 66; this latter point
had a commanding view of Mount McKinley, the
Thorofare River gorge, and many other areas in
the central and western portions of the park. The
ARC built more than 27 miles of road during the
summers of 1929 through 1932. Construction
costs during those years totaled approximately
$425,000, which was about $16,000 per mile.

Park officials, hoping to keep in touch with their
far-flung staff, decided to install a telephone line
that paralleled the park road. The park had built
its first telephone line in 1924 between McKinley
Park Station and the Savage River area, in the
midst of road construction. The line was con-
structed by park staff using materials furnished
by the Alaska Road Commission; the wires were
“temporarily laid on trees and brush,” although
“occasional fastenings and insulators have been
used where necessary.”!"> That line, which was
used only by the NPS, the ARC, and the conces-
sioner, was overhauled in 1926 and extended

to Sanctuary River. It remained a ground line,
however, until the summer of 1930, when an
Anchorage contractor won a bid to string an
overhead line, using tripods, all the way from the
McKinley Park Station to the Copper Moun-
tain relief cabin. The contract was completed

on December 1 of that year, and it worked “just
fine” for awhile.'® Wind, however, played havoc
on the line, and in the years to follow the line
was strengthened by the liberal use of guy wires,
“dead men,” and—on the river bars—vertical
poles as a replacement to tripods. Line main-
tenance, however, remained an ongoing head-
ache.!”

In the midst of all this activity, NPS officials at
long last began to plan for the park’s future. This
effort may have begun in late August 1926, when
NPS Director Stephen Mather visited the park.
Mather, along with Superintendent Karstens, had
spent nine days in the park, primarily on horse-
back, and went as far west as the upper Moose
Creek and Copper Mountain areas. Karstens
recalled that during their many conversations,
there were “many ideas conceived for the future
development of this large game preserve.”!8
Eighteen months later (see above), Karstens re-
marked that “this park has reached a period in its
development where the services of the landscape
engineer [Thomas C. Vint] are very necessary.”
Vint, in fact, visited the park in August 1929, and
although some of his recommendations dealt
with the headquarters area, others pertained to
more remote areas.'’

A primary decision, as it turned out, centered on
whether the agency should support the construc-
tion of a hotel toward the west end of the park
road. This notion was admittedly fairly fanciful
at the time, inasmuch as the road that year had
been built less than half the distance between
McKinley Park Station and Kantishna. (See
Appendix F.) Vint, however, had three potential
hotel sites from which to choose. One, near the
foot of Peters Glacier, had first been suggested
back in 1908 by Charles Sheldon, and in 1927
Superintendent Karstens (who had accompanied
Sheldon on his earlier expedition) had reiter-
ated the advantages of that site.!* A second site,
on “the high bench on the west face of Copper
Mountain,” was touted by Major D. H. Gillette
of the Alaska Road Commission. And the park
concessioner, James L. Galen, touted a site high
above the confluence of Glacier Creek and the
broad Thorofare River bar.'?! Vint, asked to
choose, steered clear of all three sites; instead, he
selected a location just west of Thorofare Pass,

at Mile 66 of the trail that connected the road
terminus with Kantishna. The site was chosen,
in part, because (according to one article) it was
“the first point ... from which an unobstructed
view of Mt. McKinley may be obtained.”!
Vint’s choice, however, was tentative at best.
First, Vint in 1929 was also planning a hotel in the
vicinity of McKinley Park Station; this site, which
was also favored by the park concessioner, was

Chapter Four: The Cabins-and-Snowshoes Era, 1925-1936 65



the privilege of landing a plane in a national park,
and for several years thereafter, Mount McKinley
was the only park to allow the practice.!3!

The 1932 Boundary Expansion: Its Causes and
Effects

As noted above, Congress had extended the
park’s eastern boundary to within three miles of
McKinley Park Station in early 1922, and ever
since that time, park personnel recognized that
the linear, arbitrary nature of the boundary line
made game protection difficult. Interior Depart-
ment officials, however, were satisfied with the
status quo, and Washington-based NPS officials
felt likewise. Chief landscape engineer Thomas
Vint, for example, wrote in January 1930—after
his visit to the park the previous summer—that
the area between the eastern boundary and the
Nenana River “has little scenic value and is not
important as a part of the park areas except in the
protection of game.” For this reason, he did not
recommend a park boundary extension to the
Nenana; instead, he opted for “a game preserve
subject to the protection of the Park Service and
its regulations.” But in early 1931, NPS Direc-
tor Horace Albright changed the agency’s stance
when he stated unequivocally that “I want to see
the park boundary extended east at least to the
Alaska Railroad.” Vint, in response, repeated

his previous suggestion, to which Albright, in a
June 1931 letter to George Parks (who was now
Alaska’s governor) reached out even farther, stat-
ing that the park boundary should be extended
to the river. Parks, reprising some of his 1922
arguments, did not favor any extension that
would include the railroad corridor. But Albright
conversed with Parks during his visit to Alaska
that August; perhaps as a result of that talk, Parks
wrote that if the NPS “must move the east park
line out to the railroad, he would not oppose

our [draft] bill.” As the extension idea gained
momentum, it appeared that the only real point
of contention was whether the boundary line
would be the railroad or the river; prominent
proponents espoused each of these points of
view.*? To some extent, advocates of both posi-
tions based their arguments on the detrimental
impacts of existing settlement patterns. Gover-
nor Parks, not normally a conservationist, recom-
mended an extension to the river—and NPS con-
trol of much of the land near the McKinley Park
railroad station—in order to avoid “administra-
tive problems that may be exceedingly difficult

to control” - specifically, “undesirable citizens
[who] have squatted on the lower reaches of Ri-
ley Creek and conducted bootlegging establish-
ments to the detriment of the railroad employees
and others.” But Director Albright, who favored
a smaller extension, felt that the conditions seen
at the Morino homestead and along the railroad
were problems that were best avoided. Parks’s
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viewpoint eventually won out.!?

Meanwhile, other voices were urging the north-
ward expansion of the park toward its western
end. The primary reason for the proposed
expansion was the provision of a hotel site near
Wonder Lake. As noted above, Thomas Vint in
1929 had selected a hotel site at Mile 66 of the
park road. However, rangers who patrolled the
area, along with U.S. Geological Survey field per-
sonnel, were quick to trumpet Wonder Lake—
then just outside of the park—as a site superior to
that at Mile 66. As noted in an Interior Depart-
ment report, “Wonder Lake has an excellent view
and many advantages for a hotel that do not exist
elsewhere in the park.” And because clouds in
this area often obscured tourists’ views of Mount
McKinley, a visitor’s time at a Wonder Lake hotel
“could be well spent fishing as well as enjoying
the scenery nearby.” Fred Moffit, a USGS field
geologist who spent the summer of 1930 in the
area, believed that the “boundary should be
extended so that Wonder Lake would be within
the park.” He assured NPS officials that the
boundary line thus proposed would avoid “any
mining interest within the proposed extension
area;” he further noted that the “abundance of
pasture on the lowlands” surrounding the lake
“attract the wild animals of the park” along with
“a large number of beaver in this area which
would be protected from trappers.” Vint, in early
March 1931, agreed with the plan; he promised
that “I believe we will regret not having Won-
der Lake in the Park if there is any possibility of
us getting it.” NPS Director Horace Albright,
who flew over the area that August, also agreed;
he asked that the boundary line in this area be
“moved northward to a point one half mile north
of Wonder Lake and this extension should be
uniform in width clear to the west line or rather
the northwest corner.” Governor Parks, asked to
comment, urged just one small modification; that
the straight, generally north-south boundary line
at the east end of the Kantishna Hills be replaced
by a sinuous line that would follow ridgelines and
other topographic features. Parks’s proposal for
this area was readily adopted.*

Finally, two boundary-change proposals along
the southern boundary were put forth. One from
Thomas Vint of the NPS would have moved the
boundary south “to include some of the land
beyond the terminals of the Glaciers,” while one
from Stephen Capps of the USGS would “throw
out the watersheds and streams flowing south
toward the Cook Inlet, as well as creeks like
Cantwell which are inaccessible from the real
park, and on which there are no big game ani-
mals.” Both of these proposals were discarded at
the agency level.’®



Airplanes servicing Savage Camp
landed on a graded section of gravel
bar until a landing strip was built by
the Mt. McKinley Tourist & Trans-
portation Company in 1930. Frances
Erickson Collection, Denali National
Park and Preserve Museum Collection

young flier who had pioneered air service into
the park, was famous because he took part in
several historic flights: one from Point Barrow to
Spitzbergen, Norway, another to the Antarctic,
and many others “to remote regions of Alaska,
carrying medical supplies to sick and injured”
(according to a Congressional report). In the fall
of 1929, word reached the outside world that the
vessel Nanuk, with a full complement of both
furs and passengers, was icebound off the coast
of northeastern Russia. The intrepid Eielson
flew west from Teller, Alaska toward the ship, but
tragically, he got caught in a blizzard and died

in a crash on Siberia’s Wrangell Island. Rescue
parties were sent out to search for both Eielson
and the stranded freighter, but it wasn’t until late
January 1930 that Eielson’s body was located
among the wreckage. Joe Crosson, another
young Alaska pilot, recovered Eielson’s remains
a month later, and by early March, Fairbanks
business interests were seeking a way to honor
the former Fairbanks resident. In recognition

of his pioneer role with Alaskan air-mail service
back in 1924, they contacted Congressional
friends seeking a way to enshrine Fielson’s name
on the territory’s maps. On March 19, a U.S.
Senate resolution (S. J. Res. 155) was submitted to
change the name of Copper Mountain to Mount
Eielson. The resolution, which had no organized
opposition, moved quickly through Congress and
on June 14, President Hoover signed the measure
into law.!28

Even before Eielson’s death, the air industry was
beginning to make dramatic new inroads into the
park. On April 13, 1928, pilot Matt Nieminen

of Alaskan Airways, Inc., based in Anchorage,
attempted to fly over the top of Mt. McKinley
while an assistant took photographs. He didn’t

make it; instead, the plane ascended to the
19,000-foot level but then had to turn back. Ni-
eminen eventually succeeded in his quest, in Au-
gust 1930. But during the intervening two years,
a small but active tourist-flight industry had taken
root in Fairbanks, and one of the most popular
destinations was Mount McKinley. According to
one account, “flying tourists to Mount McKinley
was big business out of Fairbanks” in 1930.1

Recognizing flightseeing’s economic poten-

tial, the park concessioner moved to provide
aviation-related services. In May 1930, after
obtaining the NPS’s permission, it arranged with
Alaskan Airways to “provide airplane transporta-
tion for their patrons flying from Savage Camp to
points of interest in the park, including trips to
Mt. McKinley.” Meanwhile, an airline repre-
sentative checked out the Savage Camp and Mt.
Eielson areas for specific landing sites. In early
July of that year, the concessioner “cleared away
alarge landing field near Savage Camp” which
was considered to be “one of the best land-

ing fields in Alaska at the present time,” and on
July 7, company pilot Joe Crosson inaugurated
service from the field. Accompanying him in the
Fairchild 71 was Governor George Parks and
other dignitaries. This service continued from
the airstrip for the remainder of the summer and
for years thereafter; the trip was expensive ($35)
but deeply gratifying. The concessioner, re-
thinking its earlier plans, apparently felt that the
Savage Camp airstrip was sufficient for its needs,
because—after pondering the matter for several
years—it opted to not establish another landing
field in the Mt. Eielson area.’® The conces-
sioner’s use of the Savage River area marked a
milestone in NPS history. It marked the first time
that the agency had granted a park concessioner
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These posts, shown in this 1930
photo, marked the original (1917)
park boundary between Wonder Lake
and the McKinley River. DENA 39-37,
Denali National Park and Preserve
Museum Collection

By the time the agency’s recommendations had
moved to the legislative arena, the ensuing bill
(H.R. 6485) was relatively noncontroversial. In-
troduced by Alaska Delegate James Wickersham
on December 21, 1931, it was debated in the
Committee on the Public Lands a month later;
thanks in part to the support of Interior Secretary
Ray Wilbur, it was passed on to the full House,
where it was debated on February 1 and passed
two weeks later. Two minor amendments were
added: one ensured that all land between the
railroad and the river would be part of the park,
while the other guaranteed that “any valid exist-
ing claim, location, or entry under the land laws
of the United States” would not be affected by
the park expansion.!* A day after the bill passed
the House, it was referred to the Senate’s Public
Lands and Surveys Committee, which passed it
without amendment on March 3. Less than two
weeks later, the full Senate passed the House bill,
and on March 19, President Hoover signed the
bill into law (see Map 3 and Appendix A.)"” The
boundaries thus agreed to would remain in place
for the next 46 years.

The NPS, at long last, had its headquarters site
within the park boundaries, rather than in a with-
drawn strip such as had existed since 1922. It
was also able to prevent a proliferation of private
landowners in the vicinity of McKinley Park Sta-
tion. Finally, the park extension ensured greater
control over future accommodations in that area.
As Horace Albright noted, “A new hotel will
sooner or later be erected near the railroad and
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this park road. This hotel should be on park land
and built under park policies regarding architec-
ture.”1%

The park expansion, however, was not without
its negative aspects, most of which had been fore-
shadowed by the railroad-versus-river discus-
sions of 1931, noted above. As the bill wended
its way through Congress, park superintendent
Harry Liek noted that the bill “is not going to be
so popular, as far as the sportsmen of the interior
are concerned. The mountains lying adjacent to
the ARR has [sic] always been a happy hunt-

ing grounds for many hunters and trappers...”.
Once the bill became law, the superintendent
spread the word about it by putting up a sign

on the post office wall, and he also promised to
put up signs “along the Nenana River and at the
north and south entrances” along the railroad
right-of-way. Fortunately, park personnel had
few problems with game-related enforcement;
in December 1932, Liek was able to report that
“the settlers and railroad employees along the
right-of-way are obeying the law regarding hunt-
ing, trapping ect. and with one exception, we are
having no trouble with any one.”!%

But he was even more concerned about how to
deal with various McKinley Park Station-area
residents. Some had clear title to their land, and
others were on their way toward qualifying for a
patent, and still others had filed for a homestead
“but failed to conform to the requirements and
let their land slip by default.” Particularly aggra-
vating was a fourth category, namely “an element



With the 1932 park boundary exten-
sion, many squatters’ cabins such as
this one south of Morino’s Road-
house, were now within the national
park. Transient residents who lived
in these cabins were asked to leave.
DENA 4-47.6, Denali National Park
and Preserve Museum Collection

living close to the depot who have just squatters’
rights, and living in any old cabin that has a roof
onit.” Liek acerbically noted that “they realize
about 30 gallons to the acre and have no scruples
as to whom they sell it to. Fights and drunken
brawls are a common occurrence in this district,
and these men are a detriment to any commu-
nlty 140

Once the Congressional act had been signed,

the Park Service officials’ first move was to rid
the Station area of squatters and any residences
that remained on the public lands. In August
1932, Superintendent Harry Liek told his su-
periors in Washington “of certain dilapidated
and decayed cabins ... in the vicinity of Riley
and Hines Creek, which were inhabited . ..by
various individuals ... who had never declared
their intention of filing for homestead or trading
rights but preferred to live as squatters upon the
public domain.” Later that month, Washington
informed Liek “that if the cabins were on public
land and the occupants were given proper notice
to vacate and remove their property, that they
should be torn down.” According to Duke E.
Stubbs, a disgruntled local resident, park staft
supposedly “ordered all who were living in the
area and had both possessory claims and valid
entries under the General Land Office, to vacate
their homes, the dead line being set for Decem-
ber 1,1932...”.141 Stubbs, however, protested the
agency’s action to the Interior Secretary, inas-
much as the 1932 act had seemingly protected
“any valid existing claim, location, or entry under
the land laws of the United States, whether for
homestead, mineral right of way, or any other
purpose whatsoever, or shall affect the rights of
any such claimant, locator, or entryman to the
full use and enjoyment of his land.”!*?

In response to Stubbs’ protest, the General Land

Office dispatched examiner H. K. Carlisle, who
visited the area and provided a report, dated
May 18, 1933, on the legitimacy of the various
marginal land claims. (He did not address three
other claims that were being adjudicated prior to
the 1932 expansion.)'* Carlisle’s report identi-
fied twelve people within the newly-expanded
park boundary that fit within his criteria; “in al-
most every case,” he noted, “the rights or claims
of these persons are of a possessory nature only.”
The GLO, meanwhile, asked park staff to “refrain
from ejecting any of the claimants” until the in-
vestigation was complete. That summer and fall,
the GLO attempted to contact each of the twelve
and establish their rights to the land in question;
Alaska Delegate Anthony Dimond, meanwhile,
urged NPS chief Arno Cammerer to be patient,
stating that “bonafide locators and claimants
[should] be permitted to remain in undisturbed
possession of their claims.” The claims’ vary-
ing degree of legitimacy soon became apparent;
five of the twelve claimants did not respond to
the GLO notice that was sent to them and thus
lost their opportunity to file for a parcel. One
other claimant discovered that his claim was on
land owned by the Alaska Railroad, not by the
National Park Service; and local fox farmer Duke
Stubbs was awarded a patent for his 35-acre
parcel and was thus no longer a claimant. None
of the five remaining marginalized claimants—of
those who responded to the GLO notice—re-
ceived land as a result of the process begun in the
wake of the 1932 expansion.!* The three claims
that were already being adjudicated prior to the
boundary expansion were successfully trans-
ferred to private parties. Two of the claims were
settled even before Carlisle turned in his report;
John Stephens, who had a 133.76-acre parcel
that surrounded the Windy railroad station, was
awarded a patent on February 9, 1933, and Duke
Stubbs, as noted above, received his patent on
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Duke and Elizabeth Stubbs owned
and operated this fox farm near Riley
Creek, just east of the railroad depot.
Denali National Park and Preserve
Museum Collection

April 4. Maurice Morino, the roadhouse owner
and McKinley Park Station postmaster, was the
last to receive a patent; he obtained his 120-acre
parcel on August 1, 1934.

Beyond the issue of ownership, however, Duke
Stubbs was also angry at the Federal govern-
ment because actions following the 1932 park
expansion caused damage to his cabins. Dur-
ing the fall of 1932, as noted above, Stubbs had
not yet gained a patent for his 35-acre parcel,
which included a store and fox farm; Stubbs did,
however, own the “Canyon Road House Cab-
ins,” which were the former Allred Roadhouse
just east of the railroad at Moody. In October
of that year (according to his own account) he
received “notice to vacate and

remove his personal property

from the park area by the park

authorities.” Apparently park

staff then removed his property

from his cabins, caused damage

to the cabins, and unlawfully

occupied them. Inresponse,

Stubbs complained to the Inte-

rior Department, and between

October 1932 and October

1933 he made several requests

for damage compensation total-

ing more than $2,000; in addi-

tion, he wrote two other 1933

letters in which he claimed that

park staff had “almost daily”

trespassed on his land and thus

“resulted in the ruination of his fox-farming in-
dustry.” Superintendent Liek, asked to comment
on the allegation, repeatedly denied “any trespass
upon the lands of Mr. Stubbs by himself or any
of his employees;” the “Canyon Road House
Cabins” at Moody, he asserted, had been built by
the Alaska Railroad and were currently on park
land.!#

In October 1933, Stubbs went to Washington

to press his case, but NPS officials “explicitly
explained to him that there was no authority of
law under which his claims for damages and rent
may be considered by this Department with a
view to their adjudication and settlement, and

it was suggested to him that any relief in that
connection must come through congressional
enactment.” Stubbs, in response, sought out
Delegate Tony Dimond, who on January 3, 1934
submitted a bill (H.R. 6177) “to provide for pay-
ment of damages to certain residents of Alaska
caused by reason of extending the boundaries of
Mount McKinley National Park.” An identical
companion bill, S. 2238, was submitted a week
later by Senator Clarence Dill (D-Wash.), Chair-
man of the Committee on Claims. H.R. 6177
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was considered on May 4 by the House Commit-
tee on Claims; it passed, though not without a
strongly-worded dissent from Interior Secretary
Harold Ickes. Twwo weeks later, the Senate took
up action; it adopted the House’s committee bill,
added one small amendment, and passed it on to
the full Senate, which passed it on June 13. Five
days later, the House passed the same bill and
presented it to President Roosevelt. On June 28,
however, Roosevelt vetoed the bill because he
agreed with the assertions that Interior Secretary
Ickes had made earlier to the House Committee
on Claims.!4

Stubbs, however, would not give up. At the
beginning of the next Congressional session,

Delegate Dimond introduced a private relief bill
on their behalf (H.R. 1635); three weeks later, the
head of the Senate Committee on Claims, Lewis
Schwellenbach (D-Wash.), introduced a bill (S.
1386) to “confer jurisdiction on the Court of
Claims” to hear their case. Ickes, who was asked
to comment to the Congressional committee
chairs, recommended “that the proposed legisla-
tion, in its present form, be not favorably con-
sidered by the Congress.” As a response to Mr.
Stubbs’s complaints, however, he felt “that the
matter would be more appropriate for consider-
ation by judicial authority. ... The Department,
therefore would have no objection to the con-
sideration of Mr. Stubbs’ claims by the Court of
Claims, should the Congress see fit to amend the
proposed legislation to limit the consideration of
this matter by that body.”**” Given that opinion,
both houses of Congress passed the Senate’s
version of the bill, and on June 14, 1935, Presi-
dent Roosevelt passed the “special jurisdictional
act,” dubbed Private No. 81. The Act asked the
Court of Claims “to hear, determine, and render
judgment upon the claim, or claims, of Duke E.
Stubbs and Elizabeth S. Stubbs ... for any losses
and damages sustained by [them] in the silver



The Alaska Road Commiission, in 1933

and 1934, had challenging work build-

ing the road across Eielson Bluffs, just
west of present-day Eielson Visitor

Center. DENA 25-0.5, Denali National
Park and Preserve Museum Collection

fox farming and trading post business, or other
business and occupation, conducted by them ...
at McKinley Park, Alaska.” After the passage of
that bill, attorney Horace S. Whitman filed suit in
the Court of Claims (in the case Duke E. Stubbs
and Elizabeth S. Stubbs vs. the United States, No.
43093) to recover damages. On December 6,
1937, the court awarded the Stubbs $50,000 in
damages, a figure that the Interior Department
felt was “excessive” and “conjectural.” The
Department considered appealing the case to
the Supreme Court; that process went nowhere,
however, and on July 26, 1938, the Stubbs were
paid “to satisfy the judgment issued by the Court
of Claims in Stubbs’ behalf.”!4

Park Developments, 1933-1937

During the mid-1930s, roadbuilding was the
major park development activity. As noted
above, the park road had been bladed out to
Mile 66 during the 1932 construction season;
the last few miles of that road, however, were

in poor condition, essentially impassible to
passenger vehicles. The following year, Alaska
Road Commission construction crews pushed
farther westward. (See Appendix F.) In 1933,
crews battled their way through the treacherous
Eielson Bluffs, but given their smallest construc-
tion budget since 1926, they extended the road
just one and one-half miles. The remainder of
the park road, however, was over flatter, more
undulating countryside; as a result, crews opened
up approximately five miles of new road during
each of the next three years. By the end of the
1936 construction, crews had completed the park
road all the way to the Reflection Pond area, just
east of Wonder Lake.!¥

The extension of the park road all the way to
Wonder Lake paved the way for new develop-
ments to take place at the western end of the
park. And chief among the anticipated develop-
ments was a planning effort for a new hotel. As
noted above, planning during the late 1920s had
focused on a consideration of several sites in the
Thorofare Pass-Glacier Creek area; in 1929, in
fact, NPS landscape architect Thomas Vint had
decided on a hotel site at Mile 66 along the route
between McKinley Park Station and Kantishna.
This site was just north of Copper Mountain,
which, as noted above, would soon be renamed
Mt. Eielson. Just three years after Vint made his
choice, however, Congress’s decision to expand
the park diminished the agency’s interest in

the site, at least for the time being. By acting to
expand the park’s boundaries eastward to the
Nenana River, Congress was now able—at long
last—to more actively consider the construc-
tion of a federally-funded hotel adjacent to the
railroad at McKinley Park Station. Given the

limited amount of time that most visitors spent at
the park, economics dictated that a site near the
railroad was far more likely for hotel construc-
tion than one located at the far western end of
the park. In addition, the expansion of the park
boundary northward was specifically crafted to
ensure the inclusion of a Wonder Lake hotel site
in the park; that way, the agency would be free to
build a hotel near Wonder Lake (which was just
27 miles by air from Mt. McKinley’s summit) in-
stead of being limited to the Mile 66 area (located
35 miles from the summit).'>

Wonder Lake had been under consideration as a
hotel site for some time prior to the 1932 expan-
sion. Park rangers had been familiar with the
area at least since 1926, when they had construct-
ed a patrol cabin at McKinley Bar, a few miles
south of Wonder Lake, which they dubbed the
Kantishna Ranger Station. During this period,
homesteaders John and Paula Anderson lived at
the north end of Wonder Lake, and ranger Grant
Pearson fondly recalls stopping at the cabin

and enjoying the Andersons’ hospitality. The

Andersons left their homestead in 1929.15! But

as has been recounted above, the 1930 visit of a
U.S. Geological Survey crew to the area started
aprocess to add a 4-mile-wide strip north of the
existing park boundaries in the Kantishna area;
that strip—which was expressly created to pro-
vide for a hotel site—had won broad bureaucratic
approval by March 1931. That July, NPS Director
Horace Albright arrived at McKinley Park Station
for an inspection trip into the park. Intrigued

by Wonder Lake’s potential as a hotel site, he
planned to take a horseback trip out to Vint’s site
at Mile 66 and continue on to Wonder Lake. No
sooner had Albright arrived at the park, however,
than he fell victim to appendicitis, and he had to
be flown to a Fairbanks hospital. Despite that
setback, the agency still backed a Wonder Lake
hotel site; as the New York Times noted in 1933,
Wonder Lake was “where a hotel will probably
be built, the view of the great mountain being
especially fine from the lake shore.”!
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During NPS Director Horace Albright's
1931 visit to Mt. McKinley National
Park, he stayed at Savage Camp and
attempted a horseback trip to Won-
der Lake with Superintendent Harry
Liek. After Albright (second from
left) developed abdominal pains,
they turned back and summoned a
doctor and airplane to Savage Camp.
Albright was flown to Fairbanks
where his appendix was removed.
DENA 3847, Denali National Park and
Preserve Museum Collection

The NPS’s hotel selection process during this
period made no inclusion for the park’s conces-
sioner, so once the agency had made it clear

that it was not interested in the Mile 66 site, the
company proposed improvements there of its
own. In July 1932, with the park road still miles
away, park concessioner James Galen joined
Superintendent Liek and the local Alaska Road
Commission leader on “a trip to the Vint Site at
Mile 66 for the purpose of selecting [a] camp
site and choosing [a] location for the new road.”
Later that year, Albright gave Galen permission
“to establish a temporary camp at Mile 66 this
coming season,” to be called Camp Denali and
to be located on a spur road 500 yards away
from the main highway.'® But in March 1933,
Albright reneged on his promise, citing a lack of
road-improvement funds for the spur road. The
following spring, Galen “made arrangements for
the construction of a new camp ... to be built

66 miles from McKinley Park Station.”’** The
company placed orders for camp construction
materials in May, but a long shipping strike that
began that month forced the company to cancel
those orders. “Considerable activity” took place
at the site later that summer. In October 1934,
Galen asked the agency for (and soon received)
permission to establish a permanent camp at

the site, and the following spring, the company
erected a “lunch station ... to serve the visitors
who visit that point and return the same day.” In
1936, the company replaced its building with two
tents: “one large for a dining room and one small
for the kitchen.” These were “used by the tour-
ists who stay in the park for 48 hours” and were
thus able to take an all-day excursion toward the
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western end of the park road.!>

Meanwhile, the federal government exhibited

an interest in hotels in several park areas. In

the summer of 1934, it corroborated Albright’s
1932 statement—that a new hotel would “sooner
or later be erected near the railroad”—when it
stated that railroad officials, park operators and
steamship officials were trumpeting the idea

of “afirst class hotel [to] be built by the Alaska
Railroad at McKinley Park Station.” The plan’s
main backer may have been Col. Otto Ohlson,
the railroad’s general manager, who was “en-
thusiastic over this proposed plan and is making
every possible effort to have it formulated.”** By
mid-winter, even bolder plans had surfaced; after
meetings with Interior Secretary Harold Ickes,
NPS Director Arno Cammerer, and park conces-
sioner James Galen, “considerable interest” was
being shown in two new hostelries: a lodge at
the Camp Denali site as well as a hotel near the
railroad. By the spring of 1935, the idea of the
McKinley Park Station hotel had lost steam, but
plans for a lodge at Mile 66 continued until mid-
summer.'” In September of that year, however,
NPS landscape architect Ernest A. Davidson was
dispatched to the park and asked to survey the
various hotel sites. Davidson, after an extensive
on-the-ground investigation, decided that the
best hotel site would be on a knoll just southwest
of Wonder Lake. That choice, during the next
year, was backed by Washington officials as well
as a Congressional party that visited the site. The
Alaska Road Commission, apprised of the deci-
sion, carved out a two-mile spur road connecting
the proposed hotel site to the main park road.!>



Paula Anderson filed for a 160 acre
homestead on the shores of Wonder
Lake. She and John Anderson pros-
pected and mined in the Kantishna
and Copper Mountain areas, raised
foxes and sled dogs, and provided
accommodations for travelers in the
area. Stephen R. Capps Collection,
83-149-2381, University of Alaska
Fairbanks Archive

What was particularly surpris-

ing about these developments

was that they were proposed

at a time of low visitation and

poor economic prospects. In

both 1932 and 1933, at the

depth of the Great Depression,

fewer than 400 tourists visited

Mount McKinley National

Park; this total was lower than

in any year since 1925. Each

year thereafter saw healthy

increases in visitation, but the

1936 total of 1,073 tourists—

though larger than that of any previous year—
was still far smaller than at any other national
park. And because of that poor visitation, the
park’s concessioner consistently lost money dur-
ing this period. 1*’

The company’s poor economic performance,
however, did not prevent it from offering a
diversity of services. In late 1933, for example, it
issued a brochure offering the “big game drive” to
the head of Savage River; auto trips to Sable Pass,
Stony Hill, and “Mt. Eielson” (Mile 66); horse-
back trips from Mt. Eielson south to McGona-
gall Pass and Muldrow Glacier; fishing trips to
either Wonder Lake or the so-called “Clearwater
Lakes;” scenic flights across the park from the
Savage Camp airstrip; or hunting trips, to either
the Mt. Dall country (west of the park) or the
Wood River country (east of the park). For the
next several years, it continued to offer much the
same program; the only changes were based on
the location of the road terminus.!®

A key to growth at the park was access, and dur-
ing this period, new airstrips were roughed out to
improve that access. The idea of a landing field at
McKinley Park Station had first surfaced in 1923
by a Fairbanks company interested in serving the
area. Nothing was done, however, until the early
1930s. In September 1932, just a few months
after the park’s boundaries were expanded to
include the area, Superintendent Liek reported
that local roadhouse owner Maurice Morino

had “leveled off the ground on the other side of
the track so that a plane can land there in case of
emergency.” This airstrip, just 700 feet long, was
located entirely on the parcel that Morino had
claimed. A year later, Liek noted that “the airport
at McKinley Park Station” was “in excellent con-
dition.” The so-called “Morino field” continued
to be used, on an occasional or emergency basis,
for the remainder of the decade.'®! During this
period, the concessioner continued to use the
Savage River airstrip for scenic flights, and indi-
viduals visiting the park in their own craft were

also free to use it; the Alaska Railroad, however,
intervened when, in 1936, the concessioner tried
to begin commercial flights between Fairbanks
and Savage River Camp.!¢?

During the same period, aircraft explored other
parts of the park area. At Kantishna, the 800-foot
aviation field on the “left limit of Moose Creek”
near Wonder Lake was still used occasionally, af-
ter having been improved, with Territorial funds,
during the 1931 fiscal year. But the field was not
always usable, and late one fall, a Kantishna-area
miner reached the area by landing with skis “on
the river bar at Copper Mountain.” In a simi-

lar case in 1933, the wife of a prospector along
Crooked Creek, near Stampede Creek, had a
medical emergency; the pilot, flying into the area
from the Savage River airstrip, landed on a river
bar ten miles from the claim. He walked in, per-
formed an operation “by candle light” and thus
saved the woman’s life. The pilot returned to the
plane and flew on to Fairbanks.!®* Not long after
that incident, the nearby Stampede Mine kicked
into operation after years of dormancy, and by
the eve of World War II, operator Earl Pilgrim
had bladed out an airstrip 2%, miles downstream
from the mine, at the Stampede Creek-Clearwa-
ter Fork confluence.!®*

Given the increasing length of the park road,

an array of patrol cabins scattered along the
park boundaries, and the extension of the park
boundaries to the Nenana River, rangers dur-
ing the mid-1930s were able to patrol the park’s
boundaries, and thus protect the park’s large
animal populations, more effectively than ever
before. During the early 1930s, as noted above,
rangers reported a severe shortage of furbearers
on the park’s margins, and “extreme low prices
on furs” exacerbated the trappers’ plight.'®®
Throughout this period, local trappers could
count on at least some assistance from the ter-
ritorial legislature; since 1915, it had instituted a
bounty on wolves, and in 1929, a similar bounty
was in place for coyotes. Butin early 1933, ter-
ritorial authorities announced that due to lack of
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A diversity of park activities were
advertised in this 1935 Mt. McKinley
Tourist & Transportation Company
brochure. Candy Waugaman Collec-

arrived at the park on April 17. Beginning near
the Upper Windy Creek Ranger Cabin at the
southeastern end of the park, the party moved
northward down the Nenana River’s left bank,
placing monuments—iron posts, three feet

long and two inches in diameter—at one-mile
intervals.!”® After reaching Moody Station at the
park’s northeastern corner, it then turned west
and made similar monuments on its way to the
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Toklat River. By June the group was meander-
ing down the ridgelines toward the corner in

the Moose Creek-Boundary Creek area; it then
headed toward the north end of Wonder Lake
and continued on to the southwest. By August
the men had marked the boundary all the way to
the right limit of the McKinley River. But by that
time, the group had exhausted its funds. The rest
of the boundary survey would have to wait.!™



The Lower Windy Creek cabin was
one of the 2-room ranger patrol
cabins

built during the early 1930s to
provide a base for patrolling the new
eastern park boundary. DENA 6-7,
Denali National Park and Preserve

funds, no bounties would be awarded for either
species after March 31 of that year. The com-
bined effect of these factors forced a number of
trappers to move elsewhere or to move into other
lines of work.'%¢ But those who stayed posed
virtually no threat to the park’s small or large
game. Both before and after the expansion of the
park boundary, rangers who patrolled the park’s
perimeter consistently reported no signs of
trapping or poaching. Instead, rangers typically
reported that the game was “in excellent condi-
tion,” and they sensed a cooperative attitude
from those who lived and worked adjacent to the
park.1¢

In order to ensure that hunters, trappers, and
other park neighbors paid attention to the
boundary that Congress had changed in March
1932, the NPS established two patrol cabins

in the newly-expanded park area. The Lower
Windy cabin, five miles east of the year-old
Upper Windy cabin, was erected between July
and September 1932. Soon afterward, rangers
began work on a cabin at Moody, at the north-
eastern corner of the new park. That work was
not completed until the following year.!®® The
final ranger cabin established in the wake of the
boundary expansion was located along Moose
Creek, north of mile 75 on the park road, in
either 1935 or 1936. All three of these were two-
room cabins, and thus roomier than almost all
of the ARC cabins as well as the previously-built
NPS cabins.!®

In order to make the new boundary visually
recognizable, the General Land Office sent out
aparty in 1933 “to commence a survey and to
establish the new park boundary line.” That
party, which consisted of Cadastral Engineer
Floyd G. Betts, Surveyor Leonard M. Berlin,
and six men from the agency’s Juneau office,

In 1936, the Juneau GLO office organized a party
to complete the boundary survey. Given the
predominant terrain at the park’s western end, it
was decided to conduct this survey in late winter.
A six-man crew—which again was commanded
by Floyd Betts and Leonard Berlin—left Juneau
on February 25. The crew arrived at the park
shortly afterward, and after conferring with NPS
officials, it headed west on March 12. Support
problems for the GLO crew were eased consider-
ably by NPS rangers, who ferried freight to their
base camp by dog team; an airplane, which twice
landed near the McKinley Bar ranger station,
brought additional goods. Soon work began on
the survey itself: first to complete the northwest
boundary line, then generally southward toward
the summit of Mount Russell, at the south-
western corner of the park. As related by Ray
Cruden, one of the survey crew, the men endured
“temperatures averaging 26 below zero,” which
complicated the task of setting the various
monument markers. These posts were employed
throughout the lowlands, but as the party “left
the timber and began ascending the barren
slopes of the Alaska Range,” posts were replaced
by rock cairns and tripods. Cruden noted that
“at every high point along the line, rock cairns
about seven feet high were built by piling rocks
as high as a man could reach. They can be seen
for miles.” The party completed its survey on
April 27; after that, however, a harrowing 12-day
snowshoe trip to the Igloo ARC camp lay ahead.
Cruden, reflecting back on the 550-mile trek, was
effusive in his praise of the ARC and the NPS;
their “splendid cooperation was one of the high-
lights of the trip,” in his opinion.!”?

During the early- to mid-1930s, the park sup-

ported a small staff, each of whom did a remark-
able diversity of tasks (see Appendices B and
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Located in the Nenana River canyon,

between the Alaska Railroad and
the river, the Moody cabin provided
patrol rangers with a shelter along

the new 1932 boundary. DENA 6-49,

Denali National Park and Preserve
Museum Collection

C).1 Officially, each employee worked eight
hours per day, six days a week; the superin-
tendent admitted, however, that rangers did

far more.'™ Throughout most of this period,
the staff consisted of just seven men: a super-
intendent, five rangers, and a clerk. (The only
deviation from this constant was a fourteen-
month period in 1933 and 1934 when funding
restrictions prevented the hiring of a clerk.) The
superintendent, Harry Liek, remained in charge
throughout this period; he served more than

ten years, from the late 1920s through the late
1930s. Stability, moreover, was a hallmark of the
ranger crew as well: Grant Pearson, first hired in
1926, remained on the staff until the late 1930s;
John Rumohr, hired in 1930, stayed for more
than twenty years, and Louis Corbley, hired in
1931, became chief ranger and worked at the
park until the outbreak of World War II. Other
rangers— Wallace Anderson, Aubrey Houston,
and Edward (Ted) Ogston—worked there for
several years before moving on. The park’s clerks
remained, too: C.E. Richmond was on the park
payroll for more than two years, while his suc-
cessor, Carl Lottsfeldt, stayed at the park for 3%
years. Mount McKinley, in short, offered a sense
of permanence to many on the park staff; it of-
fered rustic comforts and, because of its isolation
and the shared nature of park responsibilities, it
offered employees a strong sense of community.
Most headquarters residents were single men,
who enjoyed the park’s unencumbered lifestyle
and the hard-working, can-do attitudes of their
compatriots.

As noted above, headquarters-area construction
activities during the late 1920s and early 1930s
were primarily aimed at improving the park’s
infrastructure: utilities development along with a
power house, garage, and stable. By the mid-
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1930s, park management recognized that ranger
housing needed to be upgraded. As aresult,

the two major construction projects during this
period involved residences for the clerk and
rangers. In September 1933—just weeks after the
park’s clerk vacated his job—funds were allotted
for a new employee’s residence. The following
month, the clerk’s old quarters were demolished,
and the following spring, construction began on
areplacement. This building, with five rooms
and a basement, was designed in the agency’s San
Francisco office and was said to be “far superior
to the general run of residences in the interior of
Alaska.”'” Toward the end of the 1934 sum-
mer season, a new clerk was hired, and work

was stepped up to have it ready for him. Crews,
however, ran low on supplies, and the building—
still unfinished—was not occupied until January
1,1935.17 Meanwhile, work was proceeding
apace on a “ranger’s club”-i.e., a residence for
single rangers-that had been in the works since
the spring of 1934. The eight-room residence,
constructed to much the same standards as the
clerk’s residence, was completed in the spring

of 1935. It saw little immediate use, however,
because of its high heating demands.!””

During the winter of 1936-37, Mount McKinley
National Park turned twenty years old, and NPS
employees were able to look back on more than
fifteen years of active park management. During
that period, which has since been character-
ized as the “cabins and snowshoes era,”!”® two
superintendents and a smattering of rangers,
clerks and allied personnel had done wonders.
They had built two different headquarters areas;
the newer one, now more than ten years old, was
a handsome, rustic work complex that was fully
able to support the multitudinous activities of
the small park staff. The staff, during that period,
had constructed a long string of patrol cabins



The “Ranger’s Club,” completed

in 1935, was built specifically as a
residence for single rangers. It now
serves as the park headquarters
building. The arrow at left shows the
location of ranger Harold Herning's
room in late 1939. Beatrice Herning
Collection, Denali National Park and
Preserve Museum Collection

that stretched along the park’s boundaries.
Working in concert with the Alaska Road Com-
mission, a scenic road had been bladed out more
than 80 miles toward the west end of the park,
and a series of patrol cabins were scattered at in-
termittent points along that route. The park had
also successfully worked with two other partners,
the Alaska Railroad and the Mount McKinley
Tourist and Transportation Company, to develop
the park’s tourist potential. The Alaska Railroad,
dubbed the “McKinley Park Route,” did what

it could to stimulate visitation to the park, and

it also did its best to encourage the construction
of a tourist infrastructure within the park. The
park’s concessioner, meanwhile, did its best to
make the tourist’s experience a satisfying one

by constructing and maintaining a series of tent
camps, auto tours, and horseback excursions.

By the winter of 1936-37, there was every reason
to believe that these patterns were beginning
to mature and that the park would enjoy an
extended period of continuity and slow growth.
As Chapter 5 notes, however, the next few years
would prove anything but placid. The prevailing
sense of order would be destabilized first by a
stronger hand of government intervention, which
would be quickly followed by even more destabi-
lizing actions brought on by world events. These
events, in combination, brought this nostalgic
period to an abrupt halt.
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